
  
 
 
 

CITY OF JERSEY CITY 
 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

 
Prescription Benefit Management Services 

 
 
 
 
 

SUBMISSION DEADLINE 
 

3:00 P.M. 
May 28, 2009 

 

 

 

 
 
 

ADDRESS ALL PROPOSALS TO: 
 

Peter Folgado 
    Purchasing Agent 

1 Journal Square 
Jersey City, NJ  07306 
Office Tel: 201-547-4896 
Fax: 201-547-6586 

 
 

 
 
 



INTRODUCTION 
 
The City of Jersey City, NJ (AThe City@) is requesting proposals from Pharmacy Benefits 
Managers (APBMs@) on its existing Prescription Drug Plan for its employees and retirees. The 
current plan is administered by Express Scripts Inc. (ESI) 
 
In order to enable you to prepare a formal proposal we have included the following information: 

 
 
1) General Information 
2) Instructions to Proposers 
3) Claims Experience and Employee Demographics 
4) Plan Design 
5) Frenkel Benefits Questionnaire  
6) Jersey City Terms and Conditions and Questionnaire  
7) General Terms and Conditions 

 
 
 

 Please note that while there may be redundancies between the two questionnaires, this is 
due to the City=s requirement to adhere to New Jersey State procurement laws. If a 
question has been answered previously in the Frenkel questionnaire, simply reference 
your previous answer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1) GENERAL INFORMATION 



 
Contract Holder:    City of Jersey City 

280 Grove Street 
Jersey City, NJ 07302 

 
Type of Organization: Municipality 
 
Proposed Effective Date: July 1, 2009 
 
Insurance Broker: Frenkel Benefits, LLC 
 
Proposal Due Date: May 28, 2009 at 3:00 p.m. 
 
Proposal Requirements: An original and two (2) hard copies of your proposal must be delivered 
by the due date to: 
 

Peter Folgado 
    Purchasing Agent 

1 Journal Square 
Jersey City, NJ  07306 
Office Tel: 201-547-4896 
Fax: 201-547-6586 

 
 
 
 

All questions about this proposal should be directed to Peter Folgado  no later than seven 
(7) calendar days prior to the proposal due date.  Questions must be mailed, e-mailed, or 
faxed.  No phone calls are permitted.  Answers to all questions will be posted to the City’s 
website at http://jerseycitynj.gov/pub-contracts.aspx so that all prospective respondents 
may see them.   
 
 
GLOSSARY 
 
The following definitions shall apply to and are used in this Request for Proposals (RFP): 

 
 
ACity@    -   refers to the City of Jersey City. 
 
AProposal@  -   refers to the complete responses to this RFP submitted by the Proposers. 
 
AQualified Proposer@ -   refers to those Proposers who (in the sole judgment of the City) have 

satisfied the qualification criteria set forth in this RFP. 
 
 
ARFP@    -    refers to this Request for Proposals, including any amendments thereof or 

supplements thereto. 



 
AProposer@ or 
AProposers@   -   refers to the interested persons that submit a Proposal. 
 
1.2. Procurement Process and Schedule. 
 
 

The selection of a Qualified Proposer is subject to the "New Jersey Local Unit Pay-to-Play" 
Law, N.J.S.A. 19:44A-20.4 et seq.  The City has structured a procurement process that seeks 
to obtain the desired results described above, while establishing a competitive process to 
assure that each person is provided an equal opportunity to submit a Proposal in response to 
the RFP.  Proposals will be evaluated in accordance with the criteria set forth in Section 6(6) 
of this RFP, which will be applied in the same manner to each Proposal received. 

 
Proposals will be reviewed and evaluated by the City. Proposals will be reviewed to 
determine if the Proposer has met the minimum professional, administrative and financial 
areas described in this RFP. Based upon the totality of the information contained in the 
Proposal, including information about the reputation and experience of each Proposer, the 
City will determine which Proposer is qualified (professionally, administratively and 
financially) to provide the services. 

 
Proposals must be submitted to, and be received by the City’s Purchasing Division via mail or 
hand delivery, by 3:00 p.m. prevailing time on May 20, 2008.  Proposals will not be 
accepted by facsimile transmission or e-mail.   

 
Subsequent to issuance of this RFP, the City (through the issuance of addenda to all persons 
that have received a copy of the RFP) may modify, supplement or amend the provisions of 
this RFP in order to respond to inquiries received from prospective Proposers or as otherwise 
deemed necessary or appropriate by the City. 

 
 

TABLE 1 
 

ANTICIPATED PROCUREMENT SCHEDULE 
  

           ACTIVITY             DATE  
 

1. Issuance of Request for Proposals   May 14, 2009 
 

2. Receipt of Proposals     May 28, 2009 
 

3. Completion of Evaluation of Proposal  June 5, 2009 
 

4. Anticipated Award of Contract   June 17, 2009 
 
 
 
 



 
 
1.3 Conditions Applicable to RFP. 
 

Upon submission of a Proposal in response to this RFP, the Proposer acknowledges and 
consents to the following conditions relative to the submission and review and consideration 
of its Proposal: 

 
 1. All costs incurred by the Proposer in connection with responding to this RFP shall be 

borne solely by the Proposer. 
 
 2. The City reserves the right (in its sole judgment) to reject for any reason any and all 

responses and components thereof and to eliminate any and all Proposers responding 
to this RFP from further consideration for this procurement 

 
3. The City reserves the right (in its sole judgment) to reject any Proposer that submits 

incomplete responses to this RFP or a Proposal that is not responsive to the 
requirements of this RFP. 

 
4. The City reserves the right, without prior notice, to supplement, amend, or otherwise 

modify this RFP, or otherwise request additional information. 
 

5. All Proposals shall become the property of the City and will not be returned. 
 

6. All Proposals will be made available to the public at the appropriate time, as 
determined by the City (in the exercise of its sole discretion) in accordance with law. 

 
7. The City may request Proposers to appear before the City for interviews. 

 
8. Any and all Proposals not received by the City by 3:00 p.m. prevailing time on May 

28, 2009 will be rejected. 
 

9. Neither the City, nor its officers, officials or employees shall be liable for any claims 
or damages resulting from the solicitation or preparation of the Proposal, nor will 
there be any reimbursement to Proposers for the cost of preparing and submitting a 
Proposal or for participating in this procurement process. 



1.4. Rights of City. 
 

The City reserves, holds and may exercise, at its sole discretion, the following rights and 
options with regard to this RFP and the procurement process in accordance with the 
provisions of applicable law: 

 
1. To determine that any Proposal received complies or fails to comply with the terms 

of this RFP. 
 

2. To supplement, amend or otherwise modify the RFP through issuance of addenda to 
all prospective Proposers who have received a copy of this RFP. 

 
3. To waive any technical non-conformance with the terms of this RFP. 

 
4. To change or alter the schedule for any events called for in this RFP upon the 

issuance of notice to all prospective Proposers who have received a copy of this RFP. 
 

5. To conduct investigations of any or all of the Proposers, as the City deems necessary 
or convenient, to clarify the information provided as part of the Proposal and to 
request additional information to support the information included in any Proposal. 

 
6. To suspend or terminate the procurement process described in this RFP at any time 

(in its sole discretion.) If terminated, the City may determine to commence a new 
procurement process or exercise any other rights provided under applicable law 
without any obligation to the Proposers. 

 
7. The Board shall be under no obligation to complete all or any portion of the 

procurement process described in this RFP. 
 
 
1.5 Addenda or Amendments to RFP. 
 

During the period provided for the preparation of responses to the RFP, the City may issue 
addenda, amendments or answers to written inquiries. Those addenda will be noticed by the 
City and will constitute a part of the RFP. All responses to the RFP shall be prepared with full 
consideration of the addenda issued prior to the Proposal submission date. 

 
1.6 Cost of Proposal Preparation. 
 

Each Proposal and all information required to be submitted pursuant to the RFP shall be 
prepared at the sole cost and expense of the Proposer. There shall be no claims whatsoever 
against the City, its officers, officials or employees for reimbursement for the payment of 
costs or expenses incurred in the preparation of the Proposal or other information required by 
the RFP.  

 
 



1.7 Proposal Format. 
 

Proposals must cover all information requested in this RFP. Proposals which in the judgment 
of the City fail to meet the requirements of the RFP or which are in any way conditional, 
incomplete, obscure, contain additions or deletions from requested information, or contain 
errors may be rejected. 

 
 

SECTION 2 
 

INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS 
 
2.1 Submission of Proposals. 
 

Proposers must submit an original and two (2) copies of their Proposals to the Designated 
Contact Person. 

 
Proposals must be received by the City’s Purchasing Agent, Mr. Peter Folgado no later than 
3:00 p.m.. prevailing time on May 28, 2009, and must be mailed or hand-delivered. 
Proposals forwarded by facsimile or e-mail will not be accepted. 

 
To be responsive, Proposals must provide all requested information, and must be in strict 
conformance with the instructions set forth herein. Proposals and all related information 
must be bound, and signed and acknowledged by the Proposer. 

 
 
 
 



 

 

SECTION 3 
3) CLAIMS EXPERIENCE AND EMPLOYEE DEMOGRAPHICS 
 
Active Cost and Enrollment Exhibits 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
Active Cost and Enrollment Exhibits (Cont.) 
 

 



 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Retiree Cost and Enrollment Exhibits 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Retiree Cost and Enrollment Exhibits (Cont.) 
 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 



SECTION 4 
4) PLAN DESIGN 
 
ELIGIBILITY AND COVERAGE 
 

 a) All active employees of the City shall be eligible for benefits hereunder other than 
those persons employed on a short term, seasonal, intermittent or emergency basis 
or those specifically excluded by Union contract. 

 
b) The dependents of an eligible employee shall also be eligible for benefits 
hereunder, based on union affiliation and date of hire and only during such period of 
time that the employee is eligible, as follows: 

 
           1) The spouse of an eligible employee 

2) The children of an eligible employee; eligible children are defined as natural 
children, legally adopted children, children of whom the employee has legal 
guardianship and step-children of an eligible employee who are unmarried and who 
have not attained the age of nineteen (19) years.  An unmarried dependent child 
over the limiting age may be eligible as a dependent if he/she is incapable of self-
support because of a physical or mental incapacity that commenced prior to 
reaching the limiting age, providing a physician=s certificate is submitted to the 
provider following the attainment of the limiting age. 

 
c) Such other employees (and their dependents) shall be eligible as shall from time 
to time be agreed to by the City. 

 
d) The eligibility of any employee (and his/her dependents) shall cease upon the 
discontinuance of his/her employment for whatever reason, or upon cessation of 
active, full-time employment. 

 
e) The coverage hereunder of any employee and his/her dependents, if any, shall 
commence on the first day of the month following the month in which the employee 
(and his dependents) have attained two months= employment, and such coverage 
shall cease on the last day of employment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Item Description 

Retail Copay 
 

Generic: $2 
Preferred Brand: $20 

Home Delivery Copay 
 

Generic: $0 
Preferred Brand: $0 

Formulary ESI NATIONAL PREFERRED PSG 

Generic Policy Voluntary 

Step Therapy N/A 

Prior Authorization PA program in place 

Drug Quantity 
Management 

N/A 
 

Specialty Level:  OPEN   Drug Group:  SPE00345 

Home Delivery Home Delivery Education (HDE) 

Indemnity (Ded, MOP,PSL) 
 

N/A 
 

Other Notes  

As of:
Lives:
BPL:

02/01/2009 
5,652 
12003 

THE CITY OF JERSEY CITY 
Current Programs    

 
4. Plan Design 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Item Description 

Retail Copay 
 

Generic: $8 
Preferred Brand: $17 
Non-Preferred Brand: $34 

Home Delivery Copay 
 

Generic: $8 
Preferred Brand: $25 
Non-Preferred Brand: $42 

Formulary ESI NATIONAL PREFERRED PSG 

Generic Policy Voluntary 

Step Therapy N/A 

Prior Authorization PA program in place 

Drug Quantity 
Management 

N/A 
 

Specialty Level:  OPEN   Drug Group:  SPE00345 

Home Delivery Home Delivery Education (HDE) 

Indemnity (Ded, MOP,PSL) 
 

$1,082 MOP per Mbr 
 

Other Notes  

As of:
Lives:
BPL:

02/01/2009 
3,260 
12004 

THE CITY OF JERSEY CITY 
Current Programs    

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Item Description 

Retail Copay 
 

Generic: $2 
Preferred Brand: $10 
Non-Preferred Brand: $20 

Home Delivery Copay 
 

Generic: $5 
Preferred Brand: $15 
Non-Preferred Brand: $25 

Formulary ESI NATIONAL PREFERRED PSG 

Generic Policy Voluntary 

Step Therapy N/A 

Prior Authorization PA program in place 

Drug Quantity 
Management 

N/A 
 

Specialty Level:  OPEN   Drug Group:  SPE00345 

Home Delivery Home Delivery Education (HDE) 

Indemnity (Ded, MOP,PSL) 
 

N/A 
 

Other Notes  

As of:
Lives:
BPL:

02/01/2009 
49 

 

12005 
THE CITY OF JERSEY CITY 
Current Programs    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



As of:
Lives:
BPL:

02/01/2009 
31 

 

12006 
THE CITY OF JERSEY CITY

Current Programs    

Item Description 

Retail Copay 
 

Generic: $0 
Preferred Brand: $20 
 

Home Delivery Copay 
 

Generic: $0 
Preferred Brand: $0 
 

Formulary ESI NATIONAL PREFERRED PSG 

Generic Policy Voluntary 

Step Therapy N/A 

Prior Authorization PA program in place 

Drug Quantity 
Management 

N/A 
 

Specialty Level:  OPEN   Drug Group:  SPE00345 

Home Delivery Home Delivery Education (HDE) 

Indemnity (Ded, MOP,PSL) 
 

N/A 
 

Other Notes  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Item Description 

Retail Copay 
 

Generic: $10 
Preferred Brand: $20 
Non-Preferred Brand: $35 

Home Delivery Copay 
 

Generic: $20 
Preferred Brand: $40 
Non-Preferred Brand: $70 

Formulary ESI NATIONAL PREFERRED PSG 

Generic Policy Voluntary 

Step Therapy N/A 

Prior Authorization PA program in place 

Drug Quantity 
Management 

Yes - Std updates apply 
 

Specialty Level:  OPEN   Drug Group:  SPE00345 

Home Delivery No Targeted Promotion 

Indemnity (Ded, MOP,PSL) 
 

N/A 
 

Other Notes  

As of:
Lives:
BPL:

02/01/2009 
29 

12008 
THE CITY OF JERSEY CITY

Current Programs    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
City of Jersey City BPL/Groups/Unions 
BPL:      Groups/Unions:   
 
12003 = JCSA, MGT, POBA, PSOA, STGA, 1066, 245, 246, 68‐68A  
 
12004 = Retiree Group A 
 
12005 = Retiree Group B (shown on Demographics as Direct Access 10) 
 
12006 = Cobra 
 
12008 = JCEDC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
SECTION 5 
5) FRENKEL QUESTIONNAIRE 
 
Company Overview 
 

1.Describe the history and ownership structure of your company and length of time in this 
business. 

 
a. Provide a copy of your company=s Annual Report, including an Auditor=s Statement.  
 

 
2. What differentiates your company from other PBMs? In addition to traditional PBM 

services, how will you bring additional value to the client and their members? 
 

3. Describe any recent new product initiatives. 
 

4. What are your current financial ratings?   
 

5. Have you undergone any merger/acquisitions in the last 24 months? Describe your level 
of integration with that operations and operational changes that have been implemented 
in the past 6 months and those which are planned in the next 24 months. 
 

Cost and Clinical Management 
 

1. Describe your clinical programs (concurrent, retrospective and prospective) in detail.  
How does this integrate with the medical vendor?  Provide financial justification for 
these programs.  Are any ROI guarantees available? 
 

2. Describe a total solution aimed at prescription adherence for high risk disease states.  
How does this integrate with the medical vendor? 
 

3. Describe your prior authorization program. 
 

4. Describe your step therapy program.  Provide financial justification for implementation 
of this program. 
 

5. Describe your specialty pharmaceutical management protocols. 
 

6. Describe your willingness to cooperate with third party vendor audits. 
 

Networks 
 

1. Do you own and operate your own mail order pharmacy? If not, please describe the 
arrangement in place.   



 
2. List the top chains in your proposed network. Specifically, list all network pharmacies in 

Hudson County.  
 

3. Describe your retail auditing capabilities.  How many pharmacies are audited annually?  
What is done with recovered funds in the event of an overpayment?   
 

4. Describe your retail pharmacy claims adjudication process and system.  Is your system 
integrated with the mail order and paper claims systems? 
 

5. How frequently are pharmacy credentials reviewed?   
 

6.   Have your participating pharmacies agreed to MAC pricing on multi‐source drugs. 
 

7.   Describe your provider enrollment process.  Please provide sample provider 
agreement forms 

 
Formulary 
 

1. What are your criteria for selecting formulary drugs?  Describe how drugs are added and 
deleted, and the frequency of such additions and deletions.   
 

2. Describe the process that you will employ to drive formulary compliance.  Please provide 
sample communication materials. 
 

3. What intervention programs do you conduct?  Who has the final decision on therapeutic 
switches?  Do you compensate physicians or pharmacists for switching a prescription?   
 

4. Does your organization have any strategic alliances with drug manufacturers?  If so, 
please describe these arrangements.   
 

5. What level of formulary customization will you support? 
 

6. Describe your strategy for managing blockbuster drugs and controlling the associated 
costs for clients.  
 

7. What source do you use for AWP?  How frequently is it updated? 
 

8. Provide a description of your MAC program.  How often is it updated?  How many drugs 
are on the MAC?  How soon after a generic product is approved is it included on your 
MAC list?   
 

9. If the cost of the drug is less than the participant copayment, what does the participant 
pay?  



 
 
Service to Members 
 

1. Provide the location, and hours of the main Customer Service Center that will service the 
client.   
 

2. What services are available for special needs callers?  (visually or hearing impaired, 
Spanish speaking, elderly) 

 
3. Confirm that a Toll-Free Number; IVRS and Internet access are available member 

communication channels.  Is a pharmacist accessible by phone for physician 
consultation? 

 
4. Where is your mail service pharmacy located?  Please provide the hours of operation for 

the mail service pharmacy.   
 
5. What is your mail service turnaround time?  Describe your shipping procedures. 
 
6. How do members refill mail service prescriptions? 
 
7. What information and tools are available to members to guide their prescription 

selections? 
 
8. Provide example of a new member packet. 
 
9. What support tools are available to assist members in understanding pricing alternatives 

and to support consumer directed decision making? 
 

Account Management 
 

1. Provide biographies of key individuals assigned to our account including length of 
service with the company and number of accounts managed.    
 

2. Describe back up in the event of the primary account manager=s unavailability. 
 

3. What support will you provide to manage client eligibility and other administrative tasks? 
Briefly outline your eligibility capabilities, including file frequency, full file vs. change-
only file, electronic vs. manual, etc. 
 

4. How often do you update eligibility?  Are updates made in real time? 
 

5. Will our organization=s staff have online access to eligibility and updates?  Please 
describe the capability.  What is the charge?   



 
6. Describe your paper claims capabilities. 
 

7. Can you support COB?  If so, please describe your organization=s COB process.   
 

8. Describe your Drug Utilization Review (DUR) reporting. 
 

9. How are rebates tracked?  How often are they paid? 
 

10. What role will the account team play in ongoing consultation and plan design?  Are 
pharmacists or other clinical resources available for client consultation?  Provide an 
example of how plan and trend management recommendations and strategies will be 
presented to clients (e.g., annual performance report). 
 

11. What is your willingness to assist clients in developing customized web solutions? 
 

Implementation 
 

1. How will you manage the transition process?  Please include a discussion about enrolling 
employees, preparing communication materials, and transferring eligibility data. 
 

2. Provide a sample implementation work plan, outlining all key steps for plan 
implementation; the typical division of responsibilities (the vendor and the client); and 
the expected time frames. 
 

3. Describe how your implementation plan addresses the required communication with 
participants.   
 

Reporting Capabilities 
 

1. Provide examples of standard reports you consider most useful to a client.  How 
frequently are standard reports available and in what format?  Can these reports be 
accessed via the Internet?  Please provide samples. 
 

2. Will the account management team assigned review the reports and performance results 
with us?  Do you implement an annual review of client performance?  Please provide a 
sample of a recent report. 
 

3. Describe your plan for meeting with and educating the Client=s staff on pharmacy trends 
and emerging technologies that may have an impact to the client as it relates to designing 
leading edge pharmacy benefit plans. 
 

4. Provide a listing of optional or ad hoc reports that are available, and any associated costs. 
   
 



 
 
Plan Design 
 

1. Describe your ability to administer a wide variety of plan designs, and briefly outline any 
general requirements or recommendations you typically rely on to better manage costs 
and/or improve outcomes with minimal employee disruption.   
 

2. Can you support our current benefit design?  What suggestions would you propose we 
incorporate to maximize savings opportunities? 

 
3. Are there any limitations in plan designs that you can support? 
 

4. What programs do you have to promote the use of generic drugs and OTC drugs?  Do 
you provide reporting which identifies missed generic opportunities within a therapeutic 
class?  Can you support mandatory mail order and/or mandatory generic programs if 
requested?   

 
5. Describe your ability to implement effective value based pricing models. 
 

Fees, Guarantees and References 
 

1. What programs and services are included in your administrative fees? 
 

2. Please provide pricing for Medicare Part D Subsidy Compliance including Notice of 
Creditable Coverage Reporting. 

 
3. What other programs and services are available? What is the additional cost for these 

programs and services? 
 
4. What additional fees, if any, are required? 
 
5. Please address any financial and performance guarantees you are offering, including: 
 

a. Formulary Rebates 
a) Implementation Allowance 
b) Performance Guarantees 
c) Financial Qualifications. 

 
6. How long is your pricing guarantee? Is it the same as the length of the contract? 

 
7. Please describe the termination provisions of the contract and provide a specimen 

contract. 
 



8. Detail any assumptions for pricing as proposed (i.e. two/three tier plan design, etc.). 
Please indicate how your pricing would change under different assumptions. 
 

9. Provide three New Jersey municipality references, citing similar-sized clients that use the 
proposed services. 

 
10. Please complete the following chart for each of the two scenarios: 
 

a. 100% pass through of rebates to the client 
 

b. Traditional arrangement whereby the PBM retains a portion of the rebate and 
reduces administrative fees 

 
      Retail    Mail Order 

Brands    Discount Guarantee  AWP Minus __%    AWP Minus __%

    Dispensing Fee  $__ per script    $__ per script 

    Administrative Fee 
(If applicable) 

$__ per script    $__ per script 

Generics    Discount Guarantee  AWP Minus __%    AWP Minus __%

    Dispensing Fee  $__ per script    $__ per script 

    Administrative Fee 
(If Applicable) 

$__ per script    $__ per script 

           
Commissions*    Paid per Script  $1.00    $1.00 
           
Rebates    Rebate Guarantee per 

Brand 
$__ per script 
dispensed 
(not limited to 
specific scripts) 

  $__ per script 
dispensed 
(not limited to 
specific scripts) 

           
Specialty 
Drugs 

  Discount Guarantee  AWP Minus __%    AWP Minus __%

 
* If you are not able to pay commissions in the requested format, please provide 
alternatives 



SECTION 6 
 
 JERSEY CITY TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
1. SCOPE 
 

The City of Jersey City, Office of Health Benefits is requesting proposals for the City’s 
Prescription Drug Plan for City employees and their eligible dependents and retirees. 

 
2. EMPLOYEE AND RETIREE POPULATION 
 

As of April 2009 the City employees approximately 2,690 full and part time employees.  
There are 1850 retirees enrolled in the current prescription plan along with eligible 
dependents. 

 
3. EMPLOYEE CO-PAY INFORMATION 
 

Union   Number of Employees  *Amount of Co-Pay 
 

Mgmt.    265    $20.00/$2.00 
POBA    769         A         A 
PSOA    154         A         A 
1066    409         A         A 
1064    162         A         A 
STGA    204         A         A 
JCSA    112         A         A 
246    619         A         A 
245    213         A         A 
68-68A       6         A         A 
COBRA     31         A         A  

 
*Employee co-pays are subject to increases based upon Collective Bargaining Agreements. 

 
4. CLAIMS HISTORY 

 
Number of Claims Paid April 2008 B March 2009 
 

Single Source   68,328   
Multi-Source   12,293 
Generic   85,127 

 
Total Number of Claims Paid   165,748 
 
Total Amount Paid Out Over Co-Pay  $15,847,325.00 



 
 
5.  TERM AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 
 

     a) The agreement shall be executed effective July 1, 2009. 
 

b) The initial term of service shall be for one (1) year from the effective date of coverage, to 
commence no later than July 1, 2009 and terminate on June 30, 2010, pursuant to a 
resolution of the Municipal Council authorizing award of the agreement. 

 
c) The Plan Provider shall provide an option for all items in the agreement to be renewed for 
up to two (2) additional one (1) year terms at (1) one year intervals from the effective date of 
coverage, and provide any projected changes in costs. 

 
d) This agreement shall terminate immediately upon the disqualification of the Plan Provider 
to administer a Prescription Drug Plan, subject, however, to the Plan Provider’s right to 
assign its rights and obligations under this agreement, any assignment is subject to the prior 
approval of the City, as provided in Section e. 

 
e) In the event the Plan Provider desires to effect an assignment, it shall notify the City in 
writing of the proposed date of assignment and the name and address of the assignee.  The 
assignment may thereafter be effected, unless the City notifies the Plan Provider of its 
objections in writing within thirty (30) days following receipt by it of such notice of 
assignment.  Assignee must provide same information and format as required in this request 
for proposals. 

 
f) This agreement shall terminate upon termination of the collective bargaining agreement by 
and between the Union and the City of Jersey City, in the event that the Union cannot 
successfully renegotiate with the city to provide a Prescription Drug Plan for the remaining 
term of this agreement.  The termination hereunder, shall be effective as of the date 
payments for such services from the City shall cease. 

 
g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, this agreement may be 
terminated by the City without cause at any time for any reason for thirty (30) days notice 
given in writing to the Plan Provider. 

 
h) In the event that additional funds for this agreement are not appropriated and made 
available in the City’s 2010 budget, or in subsequent fiscal years, this agreement shall 
terminate upon the expenditure of the funds authorized by purchase order. 
 
 
 
 
 

 



6. AWARD OF CONTRACT 
 

The contract, if awarded, will be awarded as an Extraordinary, Unspecifiable Services (EUS) 
pursuant to N.J.S.A. 40A:11-5(1)(a)(ii) of the Local Public Contracts Law to the most 
responsible qualified Proposer whose proposal complies with the requirements as stated 
herein.  Proposals may be rejected where administrative fees as proposed are obviously 
unreasonable.  Award of the contract will be made by the City Council 

 
 The City may reject any and all proposals when it determines that it is in the public interest 
to             do so.  It reserves the right to waive technicalities or to request new proposals. 
 

The proposed administrative fee, while considered important, will not be the sole 
consideration in the selection of a provider.  The following factors, along with others, will be 
used in the evaluation of a successful bidder: 

 
a) General experience 
b) Experience in providing a prescription drug plan 
c) Level of fees 
d) Point of service capabilities 
e) Network organization and management 
f) Ability to provide required administrative services 
g) References from three (3) New Jersey clients 
h) Resumes of professional staff 
i) Computerized data management systems 
j) Claims processing and pricing 
k) Level of customer service 
 
 

7. CAUSES FOR REJECTION 
 

Proposals from bidders who are found to be unqualified and proposals not accompanied by 
all required information. 

 
In addition, causes for rejection of proposals may include but not be limited to the following: 
 

          a)    General Experience 
    b)     Level of fees 

c) Point of service capabilities 
d) Claims processing and pricing 
e) Customer service 
f) Network organization 

 
 
 

8. ELIGIBILITY AND COVERAGE 
 



 a) All active employees of the City shall be eligible for benefits hereunder other than those 
persons employed on a short term, seasonal, intermittent or emergency basis or those 
specifically excluded by Union contract. 

 
b) The dependents of an eligible employee shall also be eligible for benefits hereunder, based 
on union affiliation and date of hire and only during such period of time that the employee is 
eligible, as follows: 
 
1) The spouse of an eligible employee 
2) The children of an eligible employee; eligible children are defined as natural children, 
legally adopted children, children of whom the employee has legal guardianship and step-
children of an eligible employee who are unmarried and who have not attained the age of 
nineteen (19) years.  An unmarried dependent child over the limiting age may be eligible as a 
dependent if he/she is incapable of self-support because of a physical or mental incapacity 
that commenced prior to reaching the limiting age, providing a physician’s certificate is 
submitted to the provider following the attainment of the limiting age. 

 
c) Such other employees (and their dependents) shall be eligible as shall from time to time be 
agreed to by the City. 

 
d) The eligibility of any employee (and his/her dependents) shall cease upon the 
discontinuance of  his/her employment for whatever reason, or upon cessation of active, full-
time employment. 

 
e) The coverage hereunder of any employee and his/her dependents, if any, shall commence 
on the first day of the month following the month in which the employee (and his 
dependents) have attained two months= employment, and such coverage shall cease on the 
last day of employment. 

 
9. BUSINESS AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

Providers must furnish the following information: 
 

a)  The background on your company including financial information, identification of the 
parent company, services, organization and company goals. 
 

            b)  A copy of the company=s Annual Report including Auditors Statement. 
 

            c)    Provide a detailed description of your managed care products and services. 
 
 
 
 
      d)       Provide the following information regarding your company=s organization: 

 
1) An organizational chart 



     2) A brief biography of those involved in the management of the company. 
     3)   Describe your quality control program. 
     4)  Provide the company names, addresses, name of contact person and phone number of  

     three current New Jersey customers. 
 

 
10. NETWORK ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT 
 

a) Display or list network penetration, and percentage in each area that have electronic 
transmission capability. 

b) Describe network price. 
c) Have your participating pharmacies agreed to MAC pricing on multi-source drugs. 
d) Describe your provider enrollment process.  Please provide sample provider agreement 

forms. 
e) Describe in detail the audit procedures currently in place to monitor individual 

pharmacy compliance. 
f) Describe in detail the system for pharmacist phone inquiry and professional staff 

availability to respond to questions and problem situations. 
g) Describe other communications with network pharmacies (i.e. newsletters) and how 

often published. 
h)  Provide a list of network pharmacies in Hudson County, including chain store 

locations. 
 
 

11. POINT-OF-SERVICE CAPABILITIES 
 

a) Describe the method in which prescriptions are processed at participating pharmacies in your 
network.  Can pharmacies have direct access electronically to your data base/claims payment 
system?  Is there a link between the POS and your data base that will allow the POS to 
determine eligibility, benefit limitations, etc.? 
b) Do you use the NCPDP (National Council for Prescription Drug Program) 

communications format? 
c) Can participating pharmacies review eligibility on-line and eliminate terminated activity 
at the point-of-service? 
d) Does your company provide on-line, 24 hour, 7 days per week system availability? 
e) Are participating pharmacies connected directly to your mainframe or are claims 

processed through another vendor? 
f) Is your mainframe processing support fully dedicated to your operation or do you share it 

with other organizations? 
 
 
 
 

12. CLAIMS PROCESSING AND PRICING 
 
           a) Describe the edits performed by your company=s point-of-service system. 



b) Describe what action is taken to resolve mismatches or transactions that do not pass 
the edit process. 
c) Describe your capability to accommodate pricing of each prescription based on the 
agreed upon pricing guidelines (i.e., AWP, special pricing, MAC, or other) and group 
specific pricing. 
e) Identify sources used for drug pricing including MAC pricing.  How often are these 
files updated? 
f) If a purchase is made at a non-network pharmacy, employee will be required to submit 
claims for reimbursement on a standard  drug claim form.  Please describe the procedure. 
 

 
13. BENEFIT PLAN ADMINISTRATION 
 

            a)  Can prescription drugs be added to or subtracted from either the covered or excluded  
             list?  If yes, how is this accomplished? 

b) Can the quantities of prescription drugs dispensed at one time be limited?  If yes, 
how is this accomplished on your system? 
c) Can a plan design be specific to groups (i.e., specific union members, retirees, active 
members)? 
 
 

14. MANAGEMENT REPORTS 
 

a) Include sample copies of reports, both standard and optional, and any charges involved. 
      b) Please describe any Ad Hoc report capability. 

 
 

15. CUSTOMER SERVICE 
 

a) Identify services which will be available to support Health Benefits personnel for the City of 
Jersey City. 

b) Indicate the turnaround time for processing enrollments, changes in status, 
terminations, etc.  Can such changes be transmitted by facsimile? 
c) Identify key personnel who would be assigned for implementation and also those on 
an ongoing basis as contacts for the City. 
d) Include a chart that presents an overview of the implementation plan. 
e) Do you provide a benefits= personnel A800@ number? 
f) Describe how your company recommends handling member phone calls. 
g) Does your company have internal performance standards and methods to track and 
monitor customer service levels. 
h) Will the City have a dedicated customer service representative? 

 
16. COST PROPOSAL 
 

a) Describe your claims payment reimbursement to pharmacies. 
b) How is the dispensing fee paid to the pharmacy determined and how often can these 



fees be changed? 
c) Describe the methods of payment available for administrative fees. 
d) Describe the claim administrative fees charged for your POS program.  State any 
additional charges. 
e) Please list in detail the services included in the base administrative fee. 

 
 
17. DRUG UTILIZATION REVIEW (DUR) 
 

a) Please describe your drug utilization review (DUR) program, its processes, 
intervention capabilities and its ability to identify and monitor overutilization and 
underutilization. 

b) Does your DUR system provide real time, point of dispensing, drug interaction 
warnings and other drug conflict alerts to the pharmacy?  Are all network pharmacies 
able to communicate utilization review or just certain chain store locations? 
c) How do you measure and monitor the clinical impact and cost benefits of DUR 
interventions? 
d) Describe your DUR descriptive/summary reporting capability. 

 
 
18. RECORDS, REPORTS AND INSPECTIONS 

 
a)  All eligible employees may be asked to complete and give to the City to be filed with 
the Provider an individual application on behalf of themselves; and their dependents, if 
any, as a prerequisite to coverage under this agreement.  The City shall furnish the 
Provider with a tentative list of covered employees prior to the effective date of 
coverage. This list shall include employee=s name, address and sex, and shall contain the 
same information with respect to such employee=s covered dependents. 
 
b) The eligibility information received by the Provider from the City shall be entered n 
the Provider=s computer and identification cards will be produced and distributed to all 
covered persons.  Identification cards shall be in effect until the Provider is notified that 
the plan has been terminated or that a covered person or dependent of such person is no 
longer eligible for benefits under the plan. 
 
c) From time to time the City will provide new eligibility lists to the Provider showing 
additions and deletions.  Each time Provider receives and enters into its computer a new 
eligibility list from the City, Provider shall provide the City with a hard copy printout of 
the additions as entered into the computer.  The printout shall be deemed correct until the 
Provider is otherwise notified by the City by mail that corrections are required to the 
printout.  Any errors bought to the attention of the Provider will be promptly corrected. 
 
d) Provider shall maintain, in the original form or on electronic media, the claims and 
claim forms supporting the printouts.  Provider shall also maintain adequate records to 
establish payment made to Member Pharmacies.  These records shall remain accessible 
to the City for examination and audit by the City throughout the calendar year in which 
they were established and for six (6) calendar years thereafter.  Such audit may be 



conducted, upon prior written notice, at reasonable intervals during the regular business 
hours of the Provider.  All records pertaining to the administration of the plan are the 
property of the Property and all information derived by the Provider from said records 
pertaining to the administration of the plan shall be the property of the Provider. 
 
e) In the event of termination of this agreement, the City shall have the right to require 
all records to be deposited in a public warehouse, or such other place as may be 
designated by the City, at the expense of the City. 
 
f) Provider shall provide a cumulative report at the termination of the Agreement, 
containing a yearly summary description of the number of claims processed, together 
with the amount of charges of the employee therefore, and the date of said charge

 
 g)  All records and reports (or copies thereof) required to be prepared or maintained 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be maintained and made available as hereinabove 
required during the term of this Agreement and for a period of at least six (6) years 
following termination of this Agreement. 

 
 

19. COMPLIANCE WITH EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY/AFFIRMATIVE 
ACTION PLAN 

 
a) If the agreement exceeds $21,000.00 it shall also be subject to the provisions of 

N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 et seq. and N.J.A.C. 17:27 et seq. (Equal Employment 
Opportunity/Affirmative Action Provisions). 
 

ABidders (Consultants) are required to comply with the requirements of N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 
et seq. and N.J.A.C. 17:27 et seq.@ 
 
b) This Agreement shall not become effective and Provider shall provide no services 

under this Agreement until it has complied with the Equal Employment 
Opportunity/Affirmative Action provisions.  The mandatory Equal Employment 
Opportunity/Affirmative Action Language, Exhibit A, summarizes the full, required 
regulatory text. 
 

Exhibit A and additional EEO/AA mandatory languages and forms are attached hereto 
and incorporated herein. 
 
 
c) Provider shall submit to the public agency, after notification of award but prior to 

execution of a goods and services contract, one of the following three documents: 
1)   A photo copy of a valid letter that the contractor is operating under and existing 
Federally approved or sanctioned affirmative action program (good for one year from 
the date of the letter); or 
2)   A photocopy of a Certificate of Employee Information Report approval, issued in 
accordance with N.J.A.C. 17:27-4 or 
3) A photocopy of an Employee Information Report (AA302) provided by the 



Division and distributed to the public agency to be completed by the contractor, in 
accordance with N.J.A.C. 17:27-4. 

 
 
20. COMPLIANCE WITH AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990 
 

Discrimination on the basis of disability in contracting for the purchase of goods and 
services is prohibited.  Consultant is required to read Americans with Disabilities language 
that is included as Appendix A of this proposal and agree that the provisions of Title II of the 
Act are made a part of the contract.  The contractor is obligated to comply with the Act and 
to hold the owner harmless. 

 
 
21. PROOF OF BUSINESS REGISTRATION 
 

N.J.S.A. 52:32-44 requires that each bidder (contractor) submit proof of business registration 
with the bid proposal.  Proof of registration shall be a copy of the bidder=s Business 
Registration Certificate (BRC).  A BRC is obtained from the New Jersey Division of 
Revenue.  Information on obtaining a BRC is available on the internet at www.nj.gov/njbgs 
or by phone at (609) 292-1730.  N.J.S.A. 52:32-44 imposes the following requirements on 
contractors and all subcontracts that knowingly provide goods or perform services for a 
contract fulfilling this contract: 

 
a) The contractor shall provide written notice to its subcontractors and supplier to 

submit proof of business registration to the contractor; 
b) Prior to receipt of final payment from a contracting agency, a contractor must submit 
to the contracting agency an accurate list of all subcontractors or attest that none was 
used 
c) During the term of this contract, the contractor and its affiliates shall collect and 
remit, and shall notify all subcontractors and their affiliates that they must collect and 
remit to the Director, New Jersey Division of Taxation, the use tax due pursuant to the 
Sale and Use Tax Act, (N.J.S.A. 54;32B-1 et seq.) on all sales of tangible personal 
property delivered into this State. 

 
A contractor, subcontractor or supplier who fails to provide proof of business registration 
or provides false business registration information shall be liable to a penalty of $25 each 
day of violation, not to exceed $50,000 for each business registration not properly 
provided or maintained under a contract with a contracting agency.  Information on the 
law and its requirements is available by calling (609) 292-1730. 
 
 
 

22. INDEMNIFICATION 
 

Provider shall purchase and maintain the following insurance during the term of the 
agreement: 



 
a)   Comprehensive General Liability: including premises operations, products completed 
operating and independent contractor coverage B not less than One Million ($1,000,000) 
Dollars combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage liability.  The City 
of Jersey City, its agents, servants shall be named as additional insured. 
b)   Workmen’s Compensation Insurance: benefit securing compensation for the benefit 
of the employees of the Provider in the sum of One Hundred Thousand ($100,000) 
Dollars (statutory). 
c)   Professional Liability Insurance: Covering as insured the Provider with not less than 
One Million ($1,000,000) Dollars limit of liability said policy shall include an 
endorsement whereby the Provider indemnifies and holds harmless the City, its 
respective employees and all claims against any of them for personal injury or death or 
property damage arising solely out of the negligent performance of professional service 
covered by error, omission or negligent act of the provider or anyone employed by the 
provider. 

 
d) Certificates of same to be provided prior to execution of contract. 

 
 

23. ENROLLMENT HISTORY 
 

Indicate your Organization’s enrollment history for each year of the past three years (2005, 
2006 and 2007). 

 
 
24. REQUIRED SUBMITTALS 
 

It is mandatory that the documents listed below be submitted with all proposals: 
      1) Listing of NJ Member Pharmacies 

2) Non-Collusion Affidavit (see checklist) 
3) Corporate Disclosure (see checklist) 
4) Most Recent Financial Statement 
5) Resumes of Professional Staff 
6) Referral Listing of Three (3) New Jersey Clients 
7) City of Jersey City Pay to Play Certification 
8) AA/EEO forms (see checklist) 
9) NJ Business Registration Certificate (see checklist) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
25. MISCELLANEOUS 
 

a)  Provider shall be responsible for the cost of any and all printed material required 



under this agreement. 
 

b)  Any notice, consent or other communication required by, or to be given pursuant to 
the agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered to the intended recipient 
thereof.  A writing shall be deemed delivered if mailed to the intended recipient by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. 

 
c)  If any of the provisions of this Agreement are contrary to any law or regulation the 

parties shall by agreement have the right to modify and restructure the provisions 
thereof in whole or in part, such that covered employee will be able to obtain 
substantially all of the benefits provided for herein or the parties by agreement shall 
have the right to declare this Agreement null and void, in which case, the Provider 
shall thereafter be relieved of all obligations hereunder. 

 
d) This agreement is made in the State of New Jersey under, and subject to its laws.  

The laws of New Jersey shall govern and be used for the interpretation, construction 
and enforcement of this Agreement. 

 
e) The City shall not be liable for the cost of drug claims rendered pursuant to this 

Agreement except to the extent of the monthly payments agreed to hereunder. 
 

f) The effective date of this Agreement shall be July 1, 2009.
 

g)  In the event of any dispute among the parties hereto with respect to construction of 
this Agreement, such disputes shall be settled by arbitration in New Jersey in 
accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgement 
upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction therein.  

 
 

26. INTERPRETATION OF SPECIFICATIONS 
 

All questions regarding the Prescription Drug Plan should be directed to Peter Folgado, 
Acting Purchasing Director, 1 Journal Square, Jersey City, NJ  07306, Office Tel: 201-547-
4896,  Fax: 201-547-6586 at least seven (7) days prior to the date set for receipt of proposals. 

 
SECTION 7 

 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
1. The City reserves the right to reject any or all Proposals, if necessary, or to waive any 

informalities in the Proposals, and, unless otherwise specified by the Proposer, to accept 
any item, items or services in the Proposal should it be deemed in the best interest of the 
Board to do so. 

 
2. Each Proposal must be signed by the person authorized to do so. 
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3. Proposals may be hand delivered or mailed consistent with the provisions of the legal 
notice to Proposers. In the case of mailed Proposals, the City assumes no responsibility 
for Proposals received after the designated date and time and will return late Proposals 
unopened.   Proposals will not be accepted by facsimile or e-mail. 

 
4. Proposers are required to comply with the requirements of P.L. 1975, c. 127, The Law 

Against Discrimination and with N.J.A.C. 17:27-1.1 et seq., The Affirmative Action 
Rules.   

 
5. Proposers are required to comply with the requirements of the City of Jersey City’s 

Contractor Pay-to-Play Reform Ordinance 08-128 adopted on September 23, 2008. 
 

6.  Proposers are required to comply with the requirements of P.L. 2004, c. 57 which 
includes the requirement that Proposers provide copies of their Business Registration 
Certificates issued by the New Jersey Department of Treasury. 

 
7. No Proposer shall influence, or attempt to influence, or cause to be influenced, any City 

officer or employee to use his/her official capacity in any manner which might tend to 
impair the objectivity or independence of judgment of said officer or employee. 

 
8. No Proposer shall cause or influence, or attempt to cause or influence, any City officer or 

employee to use his/her official capacity to secure unwarranted privileges or advantages 
for the proposer or any other person. 

 
9. Should any difference arise between the contracting parties as to the meaning or intent of 

these instructions or specifications, the City's Corporation Counsel's decision shall be 
final and conclusive. 

 
10. The Board shall not be responsible for any expenditure of monies or other expenses 

incurred by the Proposer in making its proposal. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  



CITY OF JERSEY CITY

VENDOR: ______________________________________________________

RESPONDENT’S CHECKLIST

Item
Respondent
Initials

AA/EEO
Review

A. Non-Collusion Affidavit properly notarized

B. Public Disclosure Statement

C. Mandatory Affirmative Action Language

D. Americans with Disabilities Act

E. Affirmative Action Compliance Notice

F. MWBE Questionnaire

G. Form AA302 – Employee Information Report

H. Business Registration Certificate

I.  City of Jersey City Pay to Play Certification

J.  Listing of NJ Member Pharmacies

K.  Most Recent Financial Statement

L. Resumes of Professional Staff

M. Original signature(s) on all required forms.



NON COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT
STATE OF NEW JERSEY
CITY OF JERSEY CITY ss:

I certify that I am ______________________________________________________________

of the firm of _________________________________________________________________

the bidder making the proposal for the above named project, and that I executed the said
proposal with full authority so to do; that said bidder has not, directly or indirectly entered into
any agreement, participated in any collusion, or otherwise taken any action in restraint of free,
competitive bidding in connection with the above named project; and that all statements
contained in said proposal and in this affidavit are true and correct, and made with full
knowledge that the City of Jersey City relies upon the truth of the statements contained in said
proposal and in the statements contained in this affidavit in awarding the contract for the said
project.

I further warrant that no person or selling agency has been employed to solicit or secure such
contract upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage or
contingent fee, except bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or selling
agencies maintained by (N.J.S.A.52: 34-25)

(Signature of respondent) _____________________________________________________

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO
BEFORE ME THIS DAY               ___________________________OF 20_________

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME OF  AFFIANT UNDER SIGNATURE)

NOTARY PUBLIC OF
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES: 20 .

(NOTE: THIS FORM  MUST BE COMPLETED, NOTARIZED AND RETURNED
WITH THIS PROPOSAL).



PUBLIC DISCLOSURE INFORMATION
Chapter 33 of the Public Laws of 1977 provides that no Corporation or Partnership shall be
awarded any State, City, Municipal or Schools District contracts for the performance of any
work or the furnishing of any materials or supplies, unless prior to the receipt of the bid or
accompanying the bid of said corporation or partnership there is submitted a public disclosure
information statement. The statement shall set forth the names and addresses of all stockholders
in the corporation or partnership who own ten percent (10%) or more of its stock of any class, or
of all individual partners in the partnership who own a ten percent (10%) or greater interest
therein.

STOCKHOLDERS:

Name Address % owned

SIGNATURE : _________________________________________________________________

TITLE:               ________________________________________________________________

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO
BEFORE ME THIS DAY               ___________________________OF 20_________

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME OF  AFFIANT UNDER SIGNATURE)

NOTARY PUBLIC OF
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES: 20 .

(NOTE: THIS FORM  MUST BE COMPLETED, NOTARIZED AND RETURNED
WITH THIS PROPOSAL).



MANDATORY EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY LANGUAGE
N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 and N.J.A.C. 17:27

Goods, Professional Services and General Service Contracts
(Mandatory Affirmative Action Language)
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:

The contractor or subcontractor, where applicable, will not discriminate against any employee or
applicant for employment because of age, race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, marital
status, affectional or sexual orientation or sex. Except with respect to affectional or sexual
orientation, the contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that such applicants are recruited
and employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their age,
race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, marital status, affectional or sexual orientation or
sex. Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading,
demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay
or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The
contractor agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for
employment, notices to be provided by the Public Agency Compliance Officer setting forth
provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.

The contractor or subcontractor, where applicable will, in all solicitations or advertisements for
employees placed by or on behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive
consideration for employment without regard to age, race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry,
marital status, affectional or sexual orientation or sex.

The contractor or subcontractor, where applicable, will send to each labor union or
representative or workers with which it has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract
or understanding, a notice, to be provided by the agency contracting officer advising the labor
union or workers' representative of the contractor's commitments under this act and shall post
copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for
employment.

The contractor or subcontractor, where applicable, agrees to comply with any regulations
promulgated by the Treasurer pursuant to N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 et seq., as amended and
supplemented from time to time and the Americans with Disabilities Act.

The contractor or subcontractor agrees to make good faith efforts to employ minority and
women workers consistent with the applicable county employment goals established in
accordance with N.J.A.C. l7:27-5.2, or a binding determination of the applicable county
employment goals determined by the Division, pursuant to N.J.A.C. 17:27-5.2.

The contractor or subcontractor agrees to inform in writing its appropriate recruitment agencies
including, but not limited to, employment agencies, placement bureaus, colleges, universities,
labor unions, that it does not discriminate on the basis of age, creed, color, national origin,
ancestry, marital status, affectional or sexual orientation or sex, and that it will discontinue the



MANDATORY EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY LANGUAGE
N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 and N.J.A.C. 17:27  (continued)

use of any recruitment agency which engages in direct or indirect discriminatory practices..The
contractor or subcontractor agrees to revise any of its testing procedures, if necessary, to
assure that all personnel testing conforms with the principles of job-related testing, as established
by the statutes and court decisions of the State of New Jersey and as established by applicable
Federal law and applicable Federal court decisions.

In conforming with the applicable employment goals, the contractor or subcontractor agrees to
review all procedures relating to transfer, upgrading, downgrading and layoff to ensure that all
such actions are taken without regard to age, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, marital
status, affectional or sexual orientation or sex, consistent with the statutes and court decisions of
the State of New Jersey, and applicable Federal law and applicable Federal court decisions.
The contractor and its subcontractors shall furnish such reports or other documents to the
Division of Contract Compliance & EEO as may be requested by the Division from time to time
in order to carry out the purposes of these regulations, and public agencies shall furnish such
information as may be requested by the Division of Contract Compliance & EEO for conducting
a compliance investigation pursuant to Subchapter 10 of the Administrative Code at N.J.A.C.
17:27 .

The undersigned vendor certifies that he/she received, read, and is aware of the
commitment to comply with:

N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 and N.J.A.C. 17:27
MANDATORY EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY LANGUAGE
Goods, Professional Services and General Service Contracts
(Mandatory Affirmative Action Language)

The undersigned vendor further agrees to furnish the required forms of evidence and
understands that his/her bid shall be rejected as non-responsive if said contractor fails to
comply with the requirements of N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 and N.J.A.C. 17:27 .

Representative’s Name/Title (Print):________________________________________

Representative’s Signature:________________________________________________

Name of Company:_______________________________________________________

Tel. No.:________________Date:____________



AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990
Equal Opportunity for Individuals with Disability

The contractor and the __________________ of ________________________, (hereafter
“owner”) do hereby agree that the provisions of Title 11 of the Americans With Disabilities Act
of 1990 (the "Act") (42 U.S.C. S121 01 et seq.), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of
disability by public entities in all services, programs, and activities provided or made available
by public entities, and the rules and regulations promulgated pursuant there unto, are made a part
of this contract.

In providing any aid, benefit, or service on behalf of the owner pursuant to this contract, the
contractor agrees that the performance shall be in strict compliance with the Act.

In the event that the contractor, its agents, servants, employees, or subcontractors violate or are
alleged to have violated the Act during the performance of this contract, the contractor shall
defend the owner in any action or administrative proceeding commenced pursuant to this Act.

The contractor shall indemnify, protect, and save harmless the owner, its agents, servants, and
employees from and against any and all suits, claims, losses, demands, or damages, of whatever
kind or nature arising out of or claimed to arise out of the alleged violation.

The contractor shall, at its own expense, appear, defend, and pay any and all charges for legal
services and any and all costs and other expenses arising from such action or administrative
proceeding or incurred in connection therewith. In any and all complaints brought pursuant to
the owner’s grievance procedure, the contractor agrees to abide by any decision of the owner
which is rendered pursuant to said grievance procedure. If any action or administrative
proceeding results in an award of damages against the owner, or if the owner incurs any expense
to cure a violation of the ADA which has been brought pursuant to its grievance procedure, the
contractor shall satisfy and discharge the same at its own expense.

The owner shall, as soon as practicable after a claim has been made against it, give written notice
thereof to the contractor along with full and complete particulars of the claim, If any action or
administrative proceeding is brought against the owner or any of its agents, servants, and
employees, the owner shall expeditiously forward or have forwarded to the contractor every
demand, complaint, notice, summons, pleading, or other process received by the owner or its
representatives.

It is expressly agreed and understood that any approval by the owner of the services provided by
the contractor pursuant to this contract will not relieve the contractor of the obligation to comply
with the Act and to defend, indemnify, protect, and save harmless the owner pursuant to this
paragraph.

It is further agreed and understood that the owner assumes no obligation to indemnify or save
harmless the contractor, its agents, servants, employees and subcontractors for any claim which
may arise out of their performance of this Agreement.



AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990
Equal Opportunity for Individuals with Disability (continued)

Furthermore, the contractor expressly understands and agrees that the provisions of this
indemnification clause shall in no way limit the contractor’s obligations assumed in this
Agreement, nor shall they be construed to relieve the contractor from any liability, nor preclude
the owner from taking any other actions available to it under any other provisions of the
Agreement or otherwise at law.

Representative’s Name/Title Print):___________________________________________

Representative’s Signature:__________________________________________________

Name of Company:___________________________________________________________

Tel. No.:______________________ Date:________________________.



AFFIRMATIVE ACTION COMPLIANCE NOTICE
N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 and N.J.A.C. 17:27
GOODS AND SERVICES CONTRACTS
(INCLUDING PROFESSIONAL SERVICES)
This form is a summary of the successful bidder’s requirement to comply with the requirements
of N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 and N.J.A.C. 17:27.

The successful bidder shall submit to the public agency, after notification of award but prior to
execution of this contract, one of the following three documents as forms of evidence:

(a) A photocopy of a valid letter that the contractor is operating under an existing
Federally approved or sanctioned affirmative action program (good for one year from the
date of the letter);

OR

(b) A photocopy of a Certificate of Employee Information Report approval, issued in
accordance with N.J.A.C. 17:27-4;

OR

(c) A photocopy of an Employee Information Report (Form AA302) provided by the
Division and distributed to the public agency to be completed by the contractor in
accordance with N.J.A.C. 17:27-4.

The successful vendor may obtain the Affirmative Action Employee Information Report
(AA302) from the contracting unit during normal business hours.
The successful vendor(s) must submit the copies of the AA302 Report to the Division of
Contract Compliance and Equal Employment Opportunity in Public Contracts (Division). The
Public Agency copy is submitted to the public agency, and the vendor copy is retained by the
vendor.

The undersigned vendor certifies that he/she is aware of the commitment to comply with the
requirements of N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 and N.J.A.C. 17:27 and agrees to furnish the required forms of
evidence.

The undersigned vendor further understands that his/her bid shall be rejected as non-responsive
if said contractor fails to comply with the requirements of N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 and N.J.A.C. 17:27.

COMPANY:___________________________________________________________________

SIGNATURE: ____________________________________ DATE:________________

PRINT
NAME:_____________________________ TITLE: __________________________.



MINORITY/WOMAN BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (MWBE)
Questionnaire for Bidders
Jersey City Ordinance C-829 establishes a goal of awarding 20% of the dollar amount of total
city procurement to minority and woman owned business enterprises.
To assist us in monitoring our achievement of this goal, please indicate below whether your
company is or is not a minority owned and/or woman owned business, and return this form with
your bid proposal.

Business Name: ______________________________________________

Address: ____________________________________________________

Telephone No.: _______________________________________________

Contact Name: ________________________________________________

Please check applicable category :

_____ Minority Owned _____ Minority & Woman Owned

______ Woman Owned _____ Neither

Definition of Minority Business Enterprise
Minority Business Enterprise means a business which is a sole proprietorship, partnership or
corporation at least 51% of which is owned and controlled by persons who are African
American, Hispanic, Asian American, American Indian or Alaskan native, defined as follows:

African American: a person having origins in any of the black racial groups of Africa

Hispanic: a person of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Central or South American or other non-European
Spanish culture or origin regardless of race.

Asian: a person having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, South East Asia,
Indian subcontinent, Hawaii or the Pacific Islands.

American Indian or Alaskan Native: a person having origins in any of the original peoples of
North America and who maintains cultural identification through tribal affiliation or community
recognition.

Woman Business Enterprise
Woman Business Enterprise means a business which is a sole proprietorship, partnership or
corporation at least 51% of which is owned and controlled by a woman or women.

DIVISION OF PURCHASING COPY



INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING THE EMPLOYEE INFORMATION REPORT
(FORM AA302) 

IMPORTANT:
Read the following instructions carefully before completing the form. Print or type all
information. Failure to properly complete the entire form may delay issuance of your certificate.
If you have a current certificate of employee information report, do not complete this form.
Send copy of current certificate to the public agency. Do not complete this form for
construction contract awards.

ITEM 1 - Enter the Federal Identification Number assigned by the Internal Revenue Service, or
if a Federal Employer Identification Number has been applied for, or if your business is such that
you have not or will not receive a Federal Employer Identification Number, enter the Social
Security Number of the owner or of one partner, in the case of a partnership.

ITEM 2 - Check the box appropriate to your TYPE OF BUSINESS. If you are engaged in more
than one type of business check the predominate one. If you are a manufacturer deriving more
than 50% of your receipts from your own retail outlets, check “Retail”.

ITEM 3 - Enter the total “number” of employees in the entire company, including part-time
employees. This number shall include all facilities in the entire firm or corporation.

ITEM 4 - Enter the name by which the company is identified. If there is more than one company
name, enter the predominant one.

ITEM 5 - Enter the physical location of the company. Include City, County, State and Zip Code.

ITEM 6 - Enter the name of any parent or affiliated company including the City, County, State
and Zip Code. If there is none, so indicate by entering “None” or N/A.

ITEM 7 - Check the box appropriate to your type of company establishment. “Single-
establishment Employer” shall include an employer whose business is conducted at only one
physical location. “Multi-establishment Employer” shall include an employer whose business is
conducted at more than one location.

ITEM 8 - If “Multi-establishment” was entered in item 8, enter the number of establishments
within the State of New Jersey.

ITEM 9 - Enter the total number of employees at the establishment being awarded the contract.

ITEM 10 - Enter the name of the Public Agency awarding the contract. Include City, County,
State and Zip Code.

ITEM 11 - Enter the appropriate figures on all lines and in all columns. 



THIS SHALL ONLY INCLUDE EMPLOYMENT DATA FROM THE FACILITY THAT IS
BEING AWARDED THE CONTRACT. 

DO NOT list the same employee in more than one job category. 

DO NOT attach an EEO-1 Report.

Racial/Ethnic Groups will be defined:

Black: Not of Hispanic origin. Persons having origin in any of
the Black racial groups of Africa.

Hispanic: Persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, or
Central or South American or other Spanish culture or origin,
regardless of race.

American Indian or Alaskan Native: Persons having origins
in any of the original peoples of North America, and who
maintain cultural identification through tribal affiliation or
community recognition.

Asian or Pacific Islander: Persons having origin in any of
the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the
Indian Sub-continent or the Pacific Islands. This area
includes for example, China, Japan, Korea, the Phillippine
Islands and Samoa.

Non-Minority: Any Persons not identified in any of the
aforementioned Racial/Ethnic Groups.

ITEM 12 - Check the appropriate box. If the race or ethnic group information was not obtained
by 1 or 2, specify by what other means this was done in 3.

ITEM 13 - Enter the dates of the payroll period used to prepare the employment data presented
in Item 12.

ITEM 14 - If this is the first time an Employee Information Report has been submitted for this
company, check block “Yes”.

ITEM 15 - If the answer to Item 15 is “No”, enter the date when the last Employee Information
Report was submitted by this company.

ITEM 16 - Print or type the name of the person completing the form. Include the signature, title
and date.



ITEM 17 - Enter the physical location where the form is being completed. Include City, State,
Zip Code and Phone Number.

TYPE OR PRINT IN SHARP BALL POINT PEN

The vendor is to complete the employee information report form (AA302) and retain copy for
the vendor’s own files. The vendor is to submit a copy to the public agency awarding the
contract and forward a copy to:

NJ Department of the Treasury
Division of Contract Compliance & Equal Employment Opportunity
P.O. Box 209
Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0209 Telephone No. (609) 292-5475

Form: http://nj.gov/treasury/contract_compliance/pdf/aa302.pdf
Instructions: http://nj.gov/treasury/contract_compliance/pdf/aa302ins.pdf

Note that the sample form shown on the following page is for illustrative purposes only and
should not be submitted.  Use the state website links above to obtain the actual form.

http://nj.gov/treasury/contract_compliance/pdf/aa302ins.pdf




BUSINESS REGISTRATION LANGUAGE AND SAMPLE BRC
Refer to http://www.state.nj.us/treasury/revenue/busregcert.htm)
P.L. 2004, c. 57 (N.J.S.A. 52:32-44)
MANDATORY BUSINESS REGISTRATION LANGUAGE
Non Construction Contracts
P.L. 2004, c. 57 (Chapter 57) amends and supplements the business registration provisions of
N.J.S.A. 52:32-44 which impose certain requirements upon a business competing for, or
entering into a contract with a local contracting agency whose contracting activities are subject
to the requirements of the Local Public Contracts Law (N.J.S.A. 40A:11-2).
“New Jersey Business Registration Requirements”
The contractor shall provide written notice to its subcontractors of the responsibility to submit
proof of business registration to the contractor.
Before final payment on the contract is made by the contracting agency, the contractor shall
submit an accurate list and the proof of business registration of each subcontractor or supplier
used in the fulfillment of the contract, or shall attest that no subcontractors were used.
For the term of the contract, the contractor and each of its affiliates and a subcontractor
and each of its affiliates [N.J.S.A. 52:32-44(g)(3)] shall collect and remit to the Director,
New Jersey Division of Taxation, the use tax due pursuant to the Sales and Use Tax Act on
all sales of tangible personal property delivered into this State, regardless of whether the
tangible personal property is intended for a contract with a contracting agency.

A business organization that fails to provide a copy of a business registration as required
pursuant to section of P.L.2001, c.134 (C.52:32-44 et al.) or subsection e. or f. of section 92 of
P.L.1977, c.110 (C.5:12-92), or that provides false business registration information under the
requirements of either of those sections, shall be liable for a penalty of $25 for each day of
violation, not to exceed $50,000 for each business registration copy not properly provided under
a contract with a contracting agency.”



CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CITY OF JERSEY CITY
CONTRACTOR PAY-TO-PLAY REFORM ORDINANCE 08-128 ADOPTED
ON SEPTEMBER 3, 2008

PART I - Vendor Affirmation

The undersigned, being authorized and knowledgeable of the circumstances, does hereby certify that
_________________________________(name of business entity) has not made any reportable
contributions in the **one-year period preceding ________________________(date City Council
awards contract) that would be deemed to be violations of Section One of the City of Jersey City’s
Contractor Pay-to-Play Reform Ordinance 08-128 (attached hereto) and that would bar the award
of this contract.  I further certify that during the term of the contract ________________________
(name of business entity) will not make any reportable contributions in violation of Ordinance 08-
128.

PART II - Signature and Attestation:

The undersigned is fully aware that if I have misrepresented in whole or part this affirmation and
certification, I and/or the business entity, will be liable for any penalty permitted under law.

Name of Business Entity:                                                                                                                   

Signed                                                                   Title:                                                                     

Print Name                                                            Date:                                                                     

Subscribed and sworn before me                                                                         
this          day of              , 2        .             (Affiant)

My Commission expires:                                                                         
(Print name & title of affiant)      (Corporate Seal)

**Pursuant to Section 2 of Ordinance 08-128, no contributions or solicitation of                
   contributions made prior to the effective date Ordinance 08-128 (September 23, 2008)   
   shall be deemed to be a violation of the Ordinance. 
















